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Chapter One

My friend Hernan noticed a few
unusual things about the postcard he received in the mail one
Saturday in August. He couldn't remember the last time he'd ever
received a postcard and was even a bit surprised that such things
still existed and could be sent overland in trucks and cars. Such
inefficiency offended his modernist instincts. Not only was the
thing an actual postcard, such as thrived in abundance in an
earlier century, but it had come stuffed inside of a regular
envelope. He'd always heard of postcards as being self-sufficient.
The waste was doubled, not to mention the increased cost, which was
anathema to his current, if not consistent, mode of budget
consciousness. Thirdly, the postcard displayed the image of an
ordinary looking house, a brownish squat thing with a flat pebble
roof, a pair of absurd rectangular granite columns bracketing a
dull and lifeless porch, a front window hidden by a dirty gray
curtain, and all of this approached by a cracked and ragged
concrete pathway heavily colonized by dandelions and other
unwelcome flora. There were no pleasant features about the place,
and the only clue to its whereabouts, if anyone cared, was the
number seventy-five tacked up in aluminum letters and half-hanging
on a middle step.

Hernan turned the postcard
over to see what else might be waiting to dismay him there, but
there was nothing written except a different address: 44
Misteranibal Street. This meant nothing at all to Hernan at first,
except that the address had been scribbled unmistakably in his own
terrible and peculiar handwriting. He turned the postcard over
again, to make sure he had seen the number 75 instead of the
corresponding 44 on the back, and while making certain of this
fact, he suddenly had the most vivid recollection. He was twelve
years old and his family was moving away. His best friend from
childhood was standing on those very steps, just above the silver
numerals, waving goodbye and sniffing back some tears. Hernan found
himself nearly crying too as he stood there in the post office,
still holding the key to the P.O. box in his hand. Mrs. Mary
Holloway, a notorious busybody, took note of that unusual
occurrence, and reminded herself to tell someone about it just as
soon as she possibly could. Meanwhile, she stopped and stared at
the middle-aged man she'd seen about town for years but whose name
she had only discovered through the rumor
mill.

It had been thirty years since
his family had moved away from Misterlittleton. In that time he had
certainly heard about the eccentric developments occurring there,
from the perpetual re-beautification program to the accordion
freeways, the tremendous exodus followed by the equally dramatic
immigration, the utter transformation of the city more than once,
and the legends of the peculiar archaeological artifacts uncovered
there from time to time. He had always thought of going back, but
the idea had always been overcome by sadness, at the realization
that literally everything and everyone he had ever known from there
was gone and gone forever. Nature and mankind together had made
sure of that.

Enrique Cardoval. That had
been his best friend's name. A shy boy with always too much hair
hanging over his face, and barely enough weight to keep himself
aloft. He had been a follower of sorts, an early version of the
sycophants Hernan would later find himself surrounded by in his
occasional and detrimental extravaganzas, but Enrique had been a
friendlier rendition of that kind, a genuinely nice boy who seemed
to always have something going on in that tiny furry head of his.
He was forever laughing unexpectedly at his own little jokes which
he'd never bother to explain to anyone else. Other kids thought he
was a weirdo. That was what they called that kind of kid back then.
Nowadays they have more official-sounding terms and diagnoses.
Hernan remembered that he'd promised to write Enrique, but never
did. Come to think of it, he told himself, he had promised to send
a postcard! He snorted to have such memories evoked, another
eccentricity duly recorded by Mary Holloway, who was running out of
excuses to hang around the building. Hernan became aware of her
presence, and darting a grimace in her direction, shut his box and
locked it, and marched out to the sidewalk, still clutching the
postcard and its ridiculous envelope in his hand, wondering how and
why someone had managed to forge his chicken
scratch.

Chapter Two

Of course, when he had lived
there as a child, the town was not called Misterlittleton, nor did
all its streets begin with such appellations. All that had changed
much later, after the great event which had left the city
floundering and desperate for desperate measures. It had been
simply Littleton back then, and his family had lived at 75 Harrison
Street, Misterharrison Street by now, no doubt. Hernan had often
thought of what a blessing it had been when his father had been
transferred from the former brewery outpost there to the main
factory along the Wetford waterfront. They had missed the
mega-storm which had virtually wiped Littleton off the map by
utterly decimating its downtown and ruining its formerly boisterous
port trade. The cruise ships had redirected themselves downriver,
along with every other tourist-oriented and industrial business.
The storm had been so destructive, and the consequent bills so
high, that the insurance companies which had underwritten
everything and everybody there had gone belly up, leaving the
entire region in the hands of the city council. It was in order to
avoid further liabilities and cancel any and all existing legal
contracts that the council had renamed the town and every single
street within it, settling on the convenient method of pre-pending
them all with a handful of easy and memorable prefixes. As the
council at the time was dominated by members of the PFR party
(whose letters stood for Post-Feminist Redemption), it was doubly
convenient to name everything in such a way as to call attention to
the patriarchal origins of this, and most every other, locale in
the world. So it was Misterlittleton now, and Misterharrison
Street, and number 44 Misteranibal Street towards which the
postcard was now directing Hernan's attention. Hernan had heard
about all of the radical developments in his home town over the
years but paid no more attention to them than if they had been
happening halfway across the planet instead of a mere few hundred
miles away. He had never seriously considered re-visiting the
place, and now he had to ask himself why that
was.

There had been another side to
the family's relocation, he recalled. Not everyone had been
thrilled about it. The fact was, his mother had not wanted to move
at all, and this was probably the main factor leading to their
subsequent divorce. She had moved back there not much later. He had
stubbornly taken his father's side in the matter, and had not even
once seen his mother since then, in now nearly thirty years! It
must have been a pretty bitter divorce, as nasty as his own was to
be another fifteen years later. He'd heard that she remarried and
even had another child, a half-brother much younger than himself, a
half-brother he'd never met and whose name he couldn't recall.
Strange how much can pivot on a single event! Hernan had never
given much thought to it. Now he could remember the fights, the
yelling, those dark days when, as the only child and the center of
every struggle, he had fruitlessly willed himself invisible but had
managed at most to shut out the bad feelings that were resurfacing
in volume right there in the parking lot. He tried to shake them
out of his hair and walked back to my house, where he made himself
a cup of peppermint tea and proceeded to show me the postcard and
tell me all about it.

"You've got to go," I told him
when he'd caught me up. "That much is obvious." He was sitting in
my own favorite chair, still holding the postcard and turning it
over and over in his hand, as if he was going to see something on
it he'd somehow missed the first few thousand
times.

"No way," he protested,
standing up out of his seat and nearly spilling his tea. "That's
the last thing I want to do."

"Aw, come on," I said, "it'll
be fun. I'll go with you. I've always wanted to see
Misterlittleton. There's been some amazing stuff going on over
there. It's weird how we never went before." I was serious. Some
things you see on TV and read about for years and yet it never
occurs to you to go and see for yourself. A lot of kooky stuff had
been written about that place. I'd just assumed most of it was
lies. Was it true they had this law where all the buildings had to
be completely redesigned, if not outright torn down and rebuilt,
every decade or so? Ridiculous, but a lot of people said it was
true, even more people than believed in Bigfoot or reptilian aliens
among us.

"I'm not going," he insisted,
but of course we went, otherwise there'd be nothing else to tell
you about.

Chapter Three

Mostly I remembered pictures
of the devastation. Littleton was a town demolished. The entire
center of town had to be fenced off and ultimately brought down to
dust, one high rise at a time, by men and machines working day and
night for weeks and months on end. Nothing was deemed safe anymore.
Even the streets and sidewalks, torn open in massive rifts, had to
be dug up and re-leveled. Around the perimeter of this ghost land,
house after house was declared unfit for habitation. Even up in the
surrounding hills, where not even a cemetery gravestone remained
upright, the homes of the rich and merely old were evacuated and
then bulldozed. In the meantime, families were left with nowhere to
go, businesses were completely lost, and who knows how the people
coped. Many moved away, but many others were loyal or seduced by
promises of easy loans on good terms. Then the wheels of
incompetence and bureaucracy kicked in, and those offers seemed
more and more like carrots dangling on an ever more precarious
stick.

There were all sorts of great
plans. It was going to be the city of the future, as most cities
start out proclaiming themselves to be. There were competitions
among architects and urbanists and sociologists and even
politicians to see who could be the furthest ahead of their time. A
few things even got done here and there, like the radical renaming,
and certain edificial wonders, like the virtual museum, which
existed only in the minds of its visitors, provided they wore the
elaborate hi-tech costume required for the experience. Homes, of a
sort, did start to spring up, on curious financial terms more
reminiscent of an employee stock purchase program than a
conventional mortgage. Eventually the stories of the city faded
from the regular national news, as other more recent disasters
overtook it. The attention span of the world, never much to brag
about, continued to shorten its gaze and soon enough any new bits
about the new Misterlittleton were fortunate to make it to the
bottom links of the page.

I felt some share of guilt
about that. I had never even gotten around to texting H E L P to
have a few bucks of charity charged to my account, and now it was
years and years ago. It was probably back to being the rather dull
and ugly town it had always been before. I had only been there
once, as a kid, on a fifth grade field trip to see the famous
loading docks, where nearly half of the states' television sets
were brought to shore in gigantic red and blue containers. I
remembered those things, but mostly I remembered sitting next to
Hayley Goodage on the bus not only all the way there, but all the
way back home too. It was the pinnacle of my childhood romantic
success before I had even come across the problematic proposition
of sexual preference.

Well, pictures in the news
were not going to be enough anymore. Now I had a good excuse to
finally go and see for myself. But this isn't my story. It's
Herman's story, so it's time I got back to
it.

Chapter Four

It was simply a matter of
deciding how to get there. There was no problem of 'when'. Anytime
would be a good time, and therefore 'immediately' was as good a
time as any. Hernan did not need to get permission for time off
from his employer, for the simple reason that I was his employer,
and I had no need to ask for time off from my employer, since I had
none. I ran the business, and the business was one that could only
benefit from such a journey. I published a journal, or a newspaper,
as I liked to call it, consisting of stories which did not occur.
Hernan helped by translating these stories into several languages,
some of which were recognizable as such and were actually spoken by
real people on this planet. The others obeyed their own rules and
internal logic, and could be considered potential candidates for
future languages to be spoken and/or written, at least by somebody
somewhere. My favorite of these was Finglish, our mutually
developed version of next millennium English, derived from
heritable laws of language development which I had studied in my
time at the University. Before you go about dismissing us as
useless cranks or eccentric fools, please remember that languages
have to come from somewhere, so why not from us? My paper was
called El Editorial Espreso. We sold a few thousand copies an
issue, at a very reasonable price, both online and
off.

I was all for taking the
train, because I really like trains, but Hernan was all for driving
because, he argued, we were going to need a car when we got there
anyway, so why go to the trouble of renting one when I already had
a decent automobile. He did not, having lost his own in a wager the
previous Christmas. Hernan was not the sort to take risks unless
they were calculated ones, but unfortunately he did not excel at
calculation. He never seemed to mind his losses. He had a
deep-seated feeling that nothing could really belong to him anyway,
as if he did not deserve even the most basic of belongings. This
had been the case with his families, first the one he was born
into, and later the ones he helped put together. At the time of the
postcard, his possessions consisted of the sleeping bag and pillow
I had given him, and a backpack's worth of clothing, his usual
khaki pants two sizes too large, a meager selection of cotton polo
shirts, socks, and underwear. He slept in the tool shed behind my
house, and performed his feats of translation at my kitchen table,
on my computer.

In every other respect, his
life's internal rhythms carried on as usual despite external
circumstances. As a teenager he'd withdrawn into a bookish
solitude, interrupted periodically by outbursts of gregarious
sociability, which in turn led directly to furious fits of futility
in which he was apt to throw away anything, including friends or
lovers, jobs or homes, material possessions or previous opinions.
He had a decided tendency to wipe slates clean and begin all over
again. There were not many people or objects or even ideas that had
been able to stick with him for longer than a decade. We, those of
us who did become attached to him at various points in his life,
had a watchfulness over him while we waited for our turn to be
discarded, yet we loved him nonetheless. He did have ideas, even if
he didn't remain overly faithful to them. He was often original and
fresh, and had a flat but wicked sense of humor that would catch
you off guard every time. He was also quite skilled at language
invention, and I personally had no doubt that at least one nation
would adopt an idiom of his making at some point in the far distant
future. In the meantime, you would most often find him hanging
around a library or sitting on a bench staring out into the world
as if it was an incomprehensible but somehow very popular
show.

Now I'm afraid I've given you
the wrong impression of my friend. He was not homeless or utterly
alone. He did still have a house, sort of, but his ex-wife ruled
over there and he had had to sign away any claims he might ever
have upon it. Magdalena was as stern as she was unforgiving, and
that car I mentioned a moment ago had actually belonged to them
both. It was only a matter of luck that he hadn't offered up the
house at the same gaming table. He was, shall we say, a person in
transition at this time. His previous career as a rather more
professional translator had slid away through neglect and a
mountain of missed deadlines. My newspaper, fortunately for him,
had no such restrictions. Any story could be published at any time
in any language and in any version of its telling. It did not need
to be consistent, or even accurate, from one language to another or
from one issue to the next. We had a decided habit of re-telling
the same stories in different ways from month to month. In these
ways we were very much like the corporate cable news
channels.

I agreed to the car but only
on the condition that he drive, because I'm lazy that way, and so
that's what we did. We left at eight o'clock on the very next day,
a Sunday morning and arrived at around four o'clock in the
afternoon, stopping only once for lunch, twice for coffee, and
three times to go to the bathroom. I have never enjoyed driving
long distances, or even riding them except on trains. An hour at a
time is all I can usually stand without getting out and stretching
my legs. Hernan could drive all day, however, and even though he
still claimed he didn't even want to go on this trip, I could tell
he was impatient to get there if only on
principle.

"If we're going, then let's
go," he scolded me one time when we had stopped and I insisted on
walking around the gas station four times. The weather was clear
and dry and hot, the usual, except as we came closer to
Misterlittleton we began to see the hovering thick dark clouds for
which it was famous. These clouds had come at the time of the
mega-storm and had somehow never dissipated but clung to the region
like a foul aroma. Meteorologists from around the world came to
study this dark phenomenon but the best they could do was give it a
name, The Neumena, thereby anointing themselves Neumenologists. It
sounded ominous and certainly looked that way too. The transition
from bright blue cloudlessness to the heavy gray mantle was
instantaneous and crisp, day turned into dusk right where a
roadside sign proclaimed it would. Welcome to Misterlittleton, it
said, City of the Great Gray Cloud.

Chapter Five

It was not only the sky that
changed but the road as well. Up until then we had been traveling
along a typical state highway, smooth and predictable with its
periodic reminders of who and where we were, its consistent
stripings and markings, and its median strip of identical
succulents and cacti as far as the eye could see. Without any
indication or warning, the road turned into rough gravel and the
level ground gave way to irregular dips and undulations. A forest
of orange cones appeared, seemingly strewn about randomly along the
shoulder while the occasional sign warned of temporary speed limit
reductions to impossibly low numbers. Hernan began swearing as he
had to reduce the car to barely a crawl in order to manage the
suddenly hostile terrain. We were barely on the outskirts of the
city, but there was no sign that the road would ever improve
again.

We were entering from the
north but neither of us could remember which parts of the town had
been hardest hit by the mega-storm. All such details had been long
since forgotten, but the city we were driving into looked as if
that storm had happened only weeks and not decades before. Street
after street was broken, ragged pavement hosting crews of
equipment, detours and signage. On every block, several lots were
flattened and surrounded by chain link fences that had seen so much
usage they all had gaps and holes rendering their usefulness
questionable. In between these hollowed spaces stood otherwise
fresh and new looking homes and smallish office buildings of the
latest designs, standing out in bright and friendly colors. These
neighborhoods all had the appearance of having just been built, of
only now being built for the first time ever. On nearly every one
of the chain link fences we noticed small square placards. Hernan
parked the car so we could satisfy our curiosity about those. They
were all written in the same florid handwriting, and were either
warnings of demolition or construction in progress, or
notifications about re-locations. Harry's Hair Emporium has moved
to 1231 Misterappleton Street. Rompom Thai is now at 657 Mistergrey
Street. The Curtis Family has moved to 912 Mistersenster
Avenue.

We were the only ones on foot
along these streets, nor did we catch a glimpse of anyone inside a
home or store. We had the odd sensation of roaming about within a
pre-fabricated up-to-date ghost town. Although it was nearly
evening, it was still well above thirty five Celsius, but we were
acclimated to the new hot reality which had settled upon all of us
since the early days of the mega-storms. We didn't even break a
sweat as we made our way up and down a few of the streets in the
area. Hernan finally insisted we return to the car and carry on to
our destination.

"Which is where?" I asked. We
hadn't really discussed it before. That we were going to
Misterlittleton was all we'd decided on. I'd figured that once we
got there we'd head downtown, take a look around there and check
into a hotel or something, and grab a bite to eat. I felt like a
tourist merely there to see the sights and otherwise do nothing.
Hernan had other ideas.

"44 Misteranibal Street," he
said, clutching the steering wheel tightly as he maneuvered around
even more orange cones surrounding unexpected potholes. "Did you
notice there are no traffic lights?" he added. I hadn't but now
that he mentioned it, I saw that every intersection hosted four way
yield signs, that the entire place was on some kind of honor system
among its drivers.

"What about the other house?"
I asked, remembering now that the address he mentioned was the one
on the back of the postcard. "The one you said you grew up
in."

"I don't want to go there,"
Hernan said. "We're going to Misteranibal
Street."

"Do you know how to get
there?" I stupidly asked. Of course he did. We had our navigational
system enabled and fortunately it was updated enough to direct us
around the city without too many inexplicable signal losses.
Misteranibal Street was, according to the talking dashboard, three
miles away, straight across the town, which meant we had to go
right through the center of the city. As we neared the downtown,
the blocks became more dense, more crowded together, but in many
ways were only more of the same. Single residence houses became
more scarce and connected two-story townhouses more common, but all
of these were still bordered by small office buildings with tiny
retail businesses occupying the bottom floors, and on every street
there were two or more empty lots complete with the same old fences
and evidence of some partial building or un-building going
on.

The downtown itself was an
extreme version of the residential zones, with buildings as tall as
seven or eight floors, no higher, amid rows of "luxury apartments"
standing above arcaded shopping strips. All of these buildings
looked newly painted in the currently fashionable adobe and
pastels. There was traffic in the center of the city, but still no
traffic lights. The cars lurched about from corner to corner,
slowing or stopping at every one and everyone making way for
everyone else as if not a single one was in a hurry or thought
himself the first or most important. We saw people walking on the
sidewalks as well, but not too many. There were no crowds. I would
have liked to stop then and taken in the feeling of the city along
with a nice cold one in any one of the inviting street-side cafes
we passed, but Hernan would not consider it. He had been growing
more and more tense. I assumed it was from the long drive and the
stressful road conditions, but something else was bothering him. He
was beginning to remember things that had never happened in his
life.

Chapter Six

It was annoying. Here he was
certain he had not set foot in Misterlittleton since the age of
twelve, but now he knew for certain that the Royal Theater we just
passed on Misterkettle Road had used to be on the other side of the
street and had been wider and painted a deep royal blue, not the
periwinkle it boasted now. Then there was the Happenstance Candy
Shop which used to be right next door to that movie house and was
utterly gone now. For some reason this brought tears to his eyes
although he had never been allowed to go into that candy shop, no
matter how many times they'd passed by it as a
family.

"My father had a thing about
sweets," Hernan said, wiping his eyes with his sleeve as he
followed the sleepy traffic nodding off at the maximum twenty
kilometers per hour. "He thought they were a plot of some
sort."

"A
plot?"

"He had all these crazy
conspiracy theories. My dad," Hernan sighed. "He was something of
an idiot. He wasn't religious, not at all, but instead of believing
in one big giant story, he believed in all these little stupid
ones, like how many people it had taken to kill somebody famous, or
even if that famous person had ever really died. Or about candy,
how it was being foisted on the human race in order to prepare us
for an invasion by sugar-loving aliens. Then they would suck on our
artificially sweetened brain cells, or something like
that."

"So you never had candy when
you were a kid?" That might explain a lot, actually, about certain
aspects of my friend's personality.

"Oh, my mom would sneak me a
Twizzler or some gummy bears from time to time," he smiled, blowing
up my nascent theory of his psychological evolution before it even
got underway. "She used to hide them in my room, so I had this
habit of making a thorough inspection whenever I got home from
school. Every now and then I'd get lucky."

"Whatever happened to your
dad?" I suddenly wanted to know, as it occurred to me that I'd
heard a lot about that guy but never met him or even knew where he
was.

"No idea," Hernan shook his
head. "I haven't seen him since the wedding." I knew he was
referring to his own wedding with Magdalena. It had apparently been
a traumatic experience. This was just before I'd met him. As it
happened, I'd known Magdalena first and we'd met through her. She
was a foot doctor and I had bad feet. Most of what I knew about the
wedding I had heard from her while she was pounding away at my
soles with her heavy metal graston bars. She'd grind extra hard as
she recounted the scene where Mr. Kaitel, as she always referred to
his dad, as if the man never had a first name, had set about
smashing all the glassware at their reception using a bright blue
aluminum baseball bat he'd somehow thought to bring along for the
occasion.

"He's probably up in the hills
somewhere, preparing for the end of the world," Hernan said,
chuckling. It was a good guess. His father also believed that our
over-heated climate was not the mere accident of our misadventures
with fossil fuels, but part of an intentional plot on the part of
the mind-controlling brain-sucking sweet-toothed aliens to make the
planet more comfortable for their hot blooded physical needs. Then
there was more about the aliens' sensual predilections that nobody
really wanted to hear about.

"Right over there," Hernan was
pointing out the window at some corner grocery storefront, "that's
where Molly and I decided to have a baby."

"Molly?" I asked. This was not
a name I'd heard him mention before. As far as I knew, his first
wife's name had been Izbetia. Hernan stopped the car in the middle
of the road. Although there were a few cars behind us, no one
honked while we sat there unmoving for several seconds until I
gently reminded him we were still on the road and he started the
car back up again. During that interval he had seemed to be in a
sort of trance. Once we were on our way again, I asked once more
about Molly.

"I never met her," he
said.

"Now you're really confusing
me," I said.

"I never met her," he
repeated, "but somehow I know that we had a daughter and her name
was Candy."

"That sure would have pissed
off your dad," I muttered, and he laughed.

"That's probably why we did
it," he said. "Molly hated my dad. Of course, she hated my mother,
too. We hardly ever saw either of them after we got
-"

Hernan stopped speaking in the
middle of the sentence. He pulled the car over to the side of the
road into a parking space marked for thirty minutes
max.

"You're going to have to drive
now," he said, as he opened to door and got out. I guessed it was
only fair, seeing as he had driven this far and we only had a few
blocks left to go, according to the dashboard. I could manage that
much. I slid myself into the driver's seat as Hernan came around
and piled into the passenger's. He stared out the window as I
pulled the car out onto the road.

"So you're not going crazy,
right?" I asked. "I mean, about this Molly and all, because I know
for a fact you never had a daughter named
Candy."

"I did and I didn't," Hernan
said. "I know it never happened but I remember that conversation so
well. We were walking along back there, me and her. She was short.
Molly was. Really short, and had a mop of thick black hair on her
head. It was all her idea. I was talking about something else
entirely. I know, it was about Edgar. I was talking about Edgar and
the book he was writing about pigs, and all of a sudden she told me
she wanted to have a baby. At first I thought she meant she wanted
us to get a baby pig, and I had a vision of the thing, all pink and
snouty and wrapped up in a blanket and cuddling in my arms. Sure, I
said, thinking it would be fun to have a baby pig, especially with
what Edgar had been telling us about them just the night before
when we had dinner at his house on Misteranibal Street.
Wait!"

"Is that where we're going?" I
asked. "To this Edgar's house?"

"No," Hernan replied. "His
place was on the seven hundred block. It's weird, though. I can see
it now. He had this brown leather chair that was so amazingly
comfortable. I was afraid to sit in it because I worried I could
never get up again, like the chair would hold me
hostage."

He paused as we arrived at our
destination. 44 Misteranibal Street was on our left, and it was an
old brick house behind a chain link fence in a state of
half-demolition.

Chapter Seven

It was actually more like an
excavation than a demolition. The left side of the house was
completely gone, but in its place were a number of sticks bearing
orange and yellow flags, arranged in a complicated pattern on the
ground. Wheelbarrows full of tools lined the far side of the
diggings, while a neat gravel path led from the sidewalk to the
center of what looked to be a pit covered by a sheet of black
plastic. Floodlights were pinned to the remaining walls of the
house pointing directly into that area and an official-looking sign
was posted on the remnants of the front door warning of official
business and official penalties if disturbed. We stood there gaping
at the sight as if it were some prehistoric tar pit with an entry
fee we were debating about paying. I know that I had no idea what
to do next. I was still clinging to my quaint little daydream of
simple sightseeing followed by going home the following morning.
I'll never know what Hernan was thinking at the moment, because the
next thing we knew, an older woman emerged from the newish-looking
house next door and came toward us down her
walkway.

"Can't stay away, eh Nando?"
she called out as she neared. Hernan looked up in surprise while I
looked around for another person who had to be the one she was
talking to.

"They were asking for you
yesterday," she continued, walking right up my friend. She was a
short-ish, heavy woman of maybe sixty, with curly white hair that
rested above her wide pink face, which was dotted with a pair of
tiny black eyes. I was reminded of the baby pig Hernan had just
been talking about.

"What did they want?" he asked
her in a friendly tone.

"They didn't tell me," she
said, emphasizing the final word with a hint of resentment, as if
she'd felt deliberately and unfairly left out. "Probably about all
this," she added, waving her arm toward the ruins. "Lord knows
they're keeping mighty quiet about it. You'd think it was the tomb
of King Tut the way they're going on."

"I don't understand," Hernan
told her, and she merely shrugged.

"It's your house," she said.
"So if they did find anything, it's bound to belong to you, right?
Anyway, Ricky told them you'd be sure to be here first thing Monday
morning. Tomorrow, that is."

"Ricky?" I asked, but neither
of them seemed to hear me. At that point I wasn't sure I even
existed, the way the old woman had looked right past me. I double
checked to make sure. At least I could still see my hands. That was
good enough for me.

"Some house I've got," Hernan
said with half a chuckle, which got the old woman clucking along
with him.

"It'll be gorgeous," she
promised. "Of course it won't be yours anymore, but at least it'll
be in the latest style. How is your new place, by the
way?"

Hernan held his palms up and
made a non-committal face, which seemed to satisfy her curiosity.
She wobbled off after advising him to get there early, as there
were bound to be a lot of questions. Apparently, people from the
government, the university and the historical museum were involved,
not to mention all the attorneys. These last remarks left us even
more puzzled than before, or at least it left me that way. I
couldn't be sure about my friend. He seemed to take it all in
stride, as if he was watching a movie and was content to let it all
unfold in its own time and in its own way.

"Who was that?" I asked him as
we got back into the car. I had decided to take us back downtown,
to find a nice hotel and somewhere good for dinner. Hernan didn't
seem to have any opinions on these matters, or at least he didn't
answer when I asked him about them.

"Mrs. Handke," he said.
"Priscilla Handke. My neighbor, it seems."

"How long have you known
her?"

"Never met her before in my
life," he said. "But I think I've known her for about five
years."

"You're not making any sense,
you know," I advised him.

"I could go for some
spaghetti," he replied.

Chapter Eight

I would have guessed spaghetti
on the first, second and third attempt. It was not only his typical
fallback, but the only food he truly seemed to enjoy. He liked
cooking it as well, and not by just plopping some old bottle of
sauce into a pan, but he experimented and was quite skilled at
developing his own particular sauces, ranging anywhere from clam or
beans and sausage to more traditional cacciatores, carbonaras and
bologneses. He was also quite particular about the pasta itself and
employed the strictest unvarying methodology in order to result in
the perfect texture according to his tastes. It was always risky,
therefore, to eat spaghetti out. Every time I was certain he would
be disappointed in some ingredient or another and make that face he
usually reserved for his own less than stellar attempts, but he
never did. He was a polite diner, the same way he was overly polite
and formal with good-looking women and very small children. With
them he would shrink into little more than a rather tall gaunt
grimace and a whisper.

I casually suggested we should
visit his new home, wherever it was, but Hernan didn't like the
idea. He said he didn't know the address,
anyway.

"You seem to know everything
else," I mumbled as we pulled up in front of the Mistercharleton
Hotel on, you guessed it, Mistercharleton Street near the town's
center square.

"It's all coming to me," he
said.

"What
is?"

"These memories," he said. "Or
images. Ideas. I'm seeing things and knowing things. I don't like
it, but there it is."

"Like Molly and Candy," I
asked as we entered the lobby.

"Who?" he turned at me with a
blank look on his face.

"I guess they're coming and
going," I said. "Why don't you wait here? I'll get things
together."

I left him in the seating area
of the lobby where he looked around with that same expression of
watching a half-decent movie, one not interesting enough to engage
his full attention, but not terrible either. He could take it or
leave it, it seemed. I stopped and studied him for a few moments. I
had known Hernan a long time by then, and if someone asked I would
say that I knew him well enough. He worked for me and he lived in
my house. I had known him when he was married and now when
divorced. I had seen him at his best, a calm and generous and
considerate man, and at his worst, impulsive and lost and helpless.
He did seem a little lost at that moment, but not in the careless,
fitful way he was when on one of his rampages. That Hernan, "the
bad one" as Magdalena called it, would show up unexpectedly and at
random, when everything otherwise seemed to be going well. He would
be working on some translation or other, making steady progress in
that bland, easy-going way he had of transferring thoughts and
words from one culture to the next, when he would stand up, turn
around, grab a jacket and head out the door, not to be seen again
for days.

Maybe Misterlittleton is where
he was during those dark times, I considered. Maybe he was living a
double life all this time. But it couldn't be. It didn't add up.
Those escapades were rare and widely spaced. I'd been around for
only three or four of them in the past ten years or so, and there
had been none at all since the previous year when he'd thrown it
all away. I had believed it had cured him, losing everything like
that. Since then he'd been back to being the docile, dopey Hernan
we all knew and sometimes loved, the one whose shaggy brown hair
looked as if it had been randomly cut by the lousiest student at
the barber college, the one who cooked spaghetti, and only
spaghetti, the one who was happy to sleep on the floor, who woke up
early to listen to the singing of the birds, who walked too slowly,
ate too fast, and spoke eleven existing languages
fluently.

I got us a suite and the name
of a decent Italian restaurant that was just around the corner.
Since we didn't have a reservation, we had to put our name on the
list and come back in an hour. I didn't mind. I'd wanted to get a
chance to play tourist, and as it turned out, that was it. The
downtown was in the same remarkable condition as the rest of the
city we'd seen til then, largely brand new with gaping holes and
half-built projects on every block. When they talked of the
perpetual re-beautification program, they weren't kidding. This
town was in a constant rebuilding mode. High-rises that looked
perfectly good were already posted for impending demolitions.
Buildings that would have been considered avante-garde standouts in
our home town were apparently old-fashioned here, and were slated
to be replaced. Everywhere we saw notices of re-locations in the
same fancy script. Fourth Fidelity Bank, now at 514 Misterappleton
Drive. Sue's Home Cooking: visit us at our new home at 881
Mistergates Street. The Lowry's are now at Mistersilva Court. It
was a wonder. At least, I thought, the construction business is
guaranteed to do well here. It occurred to me that economics was
probably behind the whole idea. Some builder likely owned the whole
planning commission.

Hernan was satisfied with his
meal, but said little throughout both our stroll and our dinner. I
tried to gain some more insight into his state of mind, but made no
headway. I thought he looked sad, but he denied
it.

"I'm just tired." he said, so
we had an early night of it. I watched a little television but the
local news made no sense to me. I had never heard of the places or
controversies they mentioned. It was as if we were not just a few
hundred miles away and in the same region of the country, but
thousands of miles and way across the globe. I turned it off, and
fell asleep with the idea that tomorrow would probably be at least
as puzzling as today had been.

Chapter Nine

Hernan was quiet and spacey at
breakfast the next morning. He had followed me out of the room,
down the elevator, into the street and over to the cafe more like
an obedient puppy than a grown up living man. He sat across the
table looking down at his huevos rancheros as if they too were part
of a not especially entertaining show. I tried to remember whether
this kind of behavior was typical of his pre-freakout phases, but
realized once again that my historic lack of focus was letting me
down. The little details of any situation tend to escape me. They
pass me by. I see them and take note but the note doesn't stick, it
never saves to my memory banks or if it does, it locks them down in
an inaccessible region. I like to imagine that my brain is full of
junk data, mirroring my DNA, whose purpose is unknown and
unknowable but probably contains all of the secrets of the
universe.

"Not hungry?" I asked as I
scarfed down my buttery corn tortillas. The place was pretty good,
I thought, although I could never describe it to you now in a way
that would make it come alive. I could tell you that the tables
were red and the benches were brown and worn, that the waitress was
professional and prompt if not memorable, and that the name of the
place was Luxor Cafe, and that it was on Misterkeefe Street, one of
the main arteries in the center city. We sat inside where it was
cooler, a relative term in that region. Cooler on an early Monday
morning in August meant anything under forty degrees
Celsius.

I had set the alarm and woken
us up in order to keep the appointment that "Ricky" had made for
"Nando". Hernan seemed to have no recollection of or interest in
that plan. I had told him where we were going and he had merely
nodded and picked at his food. He eventually did manage a forkful
or two, and did drink his double extra dry cappuccino and a small
glass of orange juice. I rushed him a bit, felt guilty about his
nutrition and whether he would get enough protein, as if he were my
own son. My child-rearing days were long past but that sort of
residue remained. I wondered why. Nature prepares us for certain
roles and even when we've fulfilled them, the training does not
relapse. Then there are the tasks it doesn't care about, such as
our particular professions, and those habits never seem to burrow
as deeply. Keeping appointments, however, was one of those things
Nature had driven into my blood as if the future of the species
depended upon it, and it didn't matter if it wasn't even my
appointment or had anything at all to do with me. I hustled him
into the car and drove us off. I had taken over the driving since
it seemed to me that my friend would be a danger on the road in his
current state.

"Like a ghost," he muttered as
we drove along. I turned to look at him and saw that he was once
again staring out the window at the passing scenery, or rather past
it as if it weren't there.

"What's that you say?" Hernan
cleared his throat and took a while to
respond.

"I feel like a ghost in a
body," he said. "In my own body, but not my
own."

I noticed he was looking down
at his hands, just as I had done the previous day when Mrs. Handke
had made me feel a little like that.

"Are you having those memories
again?"

"New ones," he said. "I mean
old ones. My daughter is nineteen, did you know that? And my
ex-wife is living with some distant relative now, some guy. I don't
know who he is. I think he's her great-uncle's grandson, or
something like that."

"Magdalena is still at your
house," I reminded him, "and you guys never had any kids. You do
know that, right?"

"Molly," he said. "Not
Magdalena. My other ex-wife. Molly."

"You mean Izbetia?" The
chronology was getting confusing. I could see how he could possibly
have a daughter who was nineteen by now. That could add up, but I
was pretty sure it never happened that way. Of course, they say you
never really know someone, so it was possible. Or maybe he had a
second life going on all that time. Some people do that. They have
a wife and family in one city and another wife and family in
another. I've heard of people who had even more than two. Traveling
salesmen, usually. It's a good cover. How they manage to keep it
up, or why they even want to, is something I can't quite
understand. Maybe once you start down that road it gets harder and
harder to turn back. I had time to think these thoughts because
Hernan had stopped talking and didn't answer my question. When I
got around to asking it again, he said no, not Izbetia, Molly. He
wasn't sure he even knew who Magdalena
was.

"She's the one who kicked you
out after you gambled away her car," I reminded him. "The one you'd
just promised you'd never do anything like that again.
Remember?"

"Not really," he
sighed.

Chapter Ten

The zero-hundred block of
Misteranibal Street was packed with cars and trucks when we
arrived. The lot at number 44 was responsible. At least twenty
people were gathered there, some working, some just standing
around. The floodlights on the side of the building were on, adding
to the morning light as well as the morning heat. As we walked
toward the front path we could see a couple of men in red
visibility vests descending into the hole wearing hard hats with
bright lights on them as well. A few other men in suits stood along
the perimeter peering down. Two police officers flanked the gravel
path and stopped us.

"State your business," one of
them said in a sleepy tone as if he really didn't care what we said
in turn, he would just cross us off his checklist anyway. But it
was a good question. I started to say something about the postcard
but realized it would sound kind of crazy, so I held my tongue and
tried to think of a more useful response. I never came up with one,
but it didn't matter. One of the suit-wearing men had noticed us
and come down from the excavation.

"There you are," he said to
Hernan and pulling him along by the arm added, "Now maybe you can
explain all of this."

Hernan seemed content to be
led, and as I appeared to be with him the policemen stood back and
let me go along although I hadn't been invited. The man leading
Hernan seemed angry but did not say another word until we had
joined the others of his group. They formed a semi-circle around
Hernan and took turns asking mysterious
questions.

"Where is the secret
entrance?" asked one.

"How long has this been going
on?" asked another.

"Tell us about the lemons,"
demanded a third.

"We know it was you," the
first man, the angry one, asserted.

Hernan didn't say a word but
stood there as dumbly and meekly as he had sat at the Luxor Cafe
less than an hour before.

"Wait just a minute," I said,
speaking up for the first time. The men all turned to
me.

"Are you his lawyer?" One of
them asked.

"I'm his friend," I replied.
"And I have to tell you, neither of us have any idea what's going
on around here. We've never been here before, not until yesterday
that is. We don't even know whose house this
is."

My little speech met with a
baffled silence for a few moments, but then the angry man - I keep
calling him that because that's how he continued to strike me, with
his narrow sweaty face and the furious knotted eyebrows that turned
his face into one red scowl - nearly spat in my
face.

"Somebody get this joker out
of here," he ordered, and the next thing I knew I was being shoved
aside by a couple of burly men with hard hats and vests. They
didn't push me far, though, just out of the circle which now formed
closely around Hernan. I could hear them clearly as they shouted
their nonsensical questions at him, provoking the same silence in
response. They moved in closer and closer to him but he never
flinched or even changed the bland, empty expression on his face. I
was about to try and worm my way back in there when a new guy
showed up, a small but determined fellow who somehow got right in
there and by waving his arms and yelling managed to make the suited
guys back up a bit.

"Okay, Ricky," said the angry
man, "You try and get something out of
him."

"Nando," said the newcomer,
turning to face my friend and putting a gentle hand on his
shoulder. "Where you been, man? Everyone's been so worried. Haven't
seen you in a few days now."

Hernan looked at Ricky and
studied his face closely.

"Cardoval?" he asked in a
whisper. "That really you?"

"In the flesh, man," Ricky
told him. "In the flesh. Why you look at me like that? What's the
matter with you, man? You look like you seen a
ghost."

"I am the ghost," Hernan
said.

"Come on," the angry man
shouted, "We ain't got all day. This ruse has gone on long enough.
We know about you, Kaitel! We know all about you. Time to fess up.
You're going down."

"Don't bust a vein, Carfax!"
Enrique Cardoval turned and laughed at him. "You got nothing and
you know it. Whyn't you grab a seat or something. Me and my bud got
things to sort out."

With that, as the men in suits
stood back and let them pass, Cardoval led Hernan - who was used to
being dragged around by this point - out of the circle and over to
the remaining front steps of the half-ruined house. I also walked
over and tried to introduce myself to this Ricky fellow, but he
didn't look up at me or acknowledge my presence in any way, so I
just stood back and listened in. Their conversation made less and
less sense to me as it went on. Ricky rattled off a list of
unfamiliar names, each one evoking a shake of the head from Hernan.
Ricky listed places and numbers but nothing registered as familiar
to my friend. Ricky leaned in closer and started whispering so I
couldn't hear. Frustrated, I turned away and headed back toward the
hole, hoping to get a better look at the
thing.

It was odd. The hole was in
the shape of a cube, about twelve feet by twelve by twelve, and it
contained a perfectly intact if rather dusty living room. Two
reading chairs surrounded a wrought-iron lamp on one side of the
room. Behind them bookshelves were built into the wall and were
filled with old-looking books. A nice oriental carpet covered the
floor in front of the chairs, hosting a small table with what
looked like an old record player on it. On the wall behind that
hung a few pictures of sailing ships. The walls were covered with a
pale-orange patterned wallpaper, and a cabinet on one side
containing an assortment of nick-knacks, seemingly a collection of
little trinkets someone had picked up from tourist traps around the
world; a small stone elephant, some green glass kittens, a
miniature Eiffel Tower, a personally engraved license plate bearing
the name Lola propped up on a stand made of toothpicks, a dark
metal cast of some snow-covered mountain range, a smooth wooden
mouse, and a miniature porcelain tea set. The whole thing looked
like an old lady's visiting room.

"It was just like this when
they found it," somebody said. A young woman in a yellow vest was
standing next to me, looking down into the
room.

"Can you believe it?" she
asked. "What a treasure trove!"

"Really?" I said. It didn't
look like anything that special to me, more like my grandmother's
house. I half expected to smell a pumpkin pie at any
moment.

"Just imagine," she turned to
me. She was very excited and I noticed she was holding a clipboard
full of paper in one hand, and a pen in the other. "This room's
been hidden for over a hundred years. Completely blocked off. It
was underneath that house," she added, pointing at the old brick
ruin.

"Somebody had built right over
it. We've been pouring through the records down at City Hall.
Look!" She flipped through the notes on her clipboard. "It's all
here," she announced though I couldn't tell one form from
another.

"Patterson, Gibson, Maryvale,
Homer, all the previous owners as far back as we can get. The place
was due for re-beautification a couple of times but somehow skipped
it til now. Shouldn't even be here anymore. Anyway, here they came
and started tearing down the old wreck - hideous, wasn't it? who
does brick? - and bam, there it was, perfectly intact, right under
the old floorboards below the kitchen."

"But underground?" I
asked.

"Right!" she said. "But it
didn't used to be. This whole area's been built up. Used to be
waterfront. I know, I know, it's hard to believe, right? The river
was entirely redirected away from here, oh god, decades ago. It's
like a mile away now. Can't even see it. Used to be right here
though. So they piled up the landfill to make it even with the
highway over there," she gestured vaguely in some direction. I had
no idea what she was talking about. "Must have been then it
happened," she said. "They built right over it. Now the whole
thing's headed for the history museum. That's me, by the way,” she
said, handing me a card, “Claire Stoll. Contemporary Archaeologist.
And you are?"

I introduced myself as a
friend of that man over there, pointing out Hernan, and she turned
kind of somber and said it was a shame about
him.

"What do you mean?" I
asked.

"It should be like he won the
lottery," she told me, "what with this priceless discovery and all,
but instead it's only got him into even more trouble than
usual."

"What
trouble?"

"The lemons," she said, as if
that should have been obvious.

Chapter Eleven

"What lemons?" I asked. This
was the second time I had heard them mentioned. Claire pointed down
into the hole.

"Those lemons," she said,
indicating a small wicker basket in the corner of the room, on the
floor next to one of the reading chairs. At first nothing seemed
unusual about them. There were maybe three or four of them in the
basket. I assumed they were ceramic or
stone.

"Yes," she said. "They're real
lemons, and they're fresh, and they've got his fingerprints all
over them."

"I thought you said the room
was completely concealed."

"Exactly," she said. "That's
the problem, you see. That and the fact they were
stolen."

"The lemons?" I asked,
incredulous. Who would care about a few stolen lemons? They must
have cost a dime apiece. Lemons were hardly scarce in these
parts.

"Same as the jewels," she
said. I looked around for those but she laughed and
said,

"Of course they didn't find
those! Not yet. But that's what it's all
about."

Now I got it. Those men in
suits, they were detectives. The police presence, the angry man,
now there was some glimmer of explanation in the midst of all this
nonsense.

"Hernan's no thief," I said to
Claire, as if that would help, but she was only there for the
artifacts.

"Excuse me," I added, and
started walking back toward the steps where Hernan and Ricky were
still huddled in conference. Carfax got in my way, though, and
stopped me.

"I need to ask you a few
questions," he said.

"Sure," I replied, "go
ahead."

They turned out to be more
than a few. Carfax delivered me into the hands of two of his
associates, the ones who'd already enjoyed pushing me around, and
they hustled me off into an official car, slapped some handcuffs on
my wrists and drove me to their office, where they had me sit in a
bright, white-tiled room for several hours before remembering I was
even there. Then they had me state my name and business and recent
whereabouts. I remained in that room for another hour or so while
they apparently made some phone calls and checked me out, because
then they let me go without a word. I had tried to get them to tell
me what this was all about, what they wanted from me, who they
thought I was, what about Hernan, what about the lemons, but all of
my questions were met with silence. I wasn't even told to mind my
own business.

I had to take a taxi back to
Misteranibal Street and by the time I arrived it was already
getting late in the day and everyone was gone. The hole was once
again covered up in black plastic and all the warning signs were
back in their places. It struck me that anyone could simply go
right in and take all that stuff out of the pit if they really
wanted to, but then I realized that, historical as it might be, all
those things were just useless crap, not worth bothering about.
Besides, there were probably surveillance cameras, so any intruders
would only end up becoming implicated in the mess my friend was
somehow suspected of being involved in.

I only wanted to know what had
happened to him, where he was now. I thought I'd probably have to
go back to the police station and see if I could find out from
them, but then I realized they weren't likely to tell me anything.
I had little to go on. I considered stopping by Mrs Handke's house
next door and asking her, but dismissed the thought. Why would she
know? Only one person could help me, I decided, that Ricky
character. Enrique Cardoval. I would have to get a hold of him
somehow.

Chapter Twelve

I had a little trouble
tracking Ricky down. The directory had him listed at 212 Misterable
Street, but the people there told me he'd moved last
re-beautification, almost two years previously. They still had the
redirect sign, though, the one that had been posted on the fence
informing the world that the Cardoval family could now be found at
1130 Misterharrison Court. The people at that house were also very
nice, but they weren't the Cardoval family. As far as they knew,
Ricky and his wife Belinda and their two darling little girls, who
weren't so little anymore, as the husband reminded his wife, nor
that darling these days, she recalled in turn, they might be still
living at 26441 Mistercarlton Terrace, which was all the way on the
other side of the city. I had already driven through the east side
and into the south, and now headed west, my hopes dimming but
undeterred. Ricky Cardoval was option one, two and three on my
list.

He did live on Mistercarlton
Terrace, but not at 26441 as it turned out, but at 24661.
Apparently other previous Cardoval seekers had been equally
misinformed by the Misterharrison couple, so I did end up on his
doorstep where I was greeted by a definitely not little and hardly
darling Miss Angelica Cardoval. She was at least six three, at
least two forty, and hard at work on several pizzas when she
reluctantly came to the door and peeked
out.

"Who you and what you want?"
she inquired. I noticed she had inherited her father's grammar if
not his size.

"Is your father home? I
asked.

"Why? what you want with him?"
she demanded, as if she were some kind of gatekeeper. She certainly
seemed suspicious of me.

"I'm hoping he can help me in
the matter of a mutual friend," I said, and when she insisted on
knowing who this mutual friend was, I told her his name, Hernan
Kaitel.

"That dickweed?" she snorted.
"There's no helping him." She seemed to remember her pizzas just
then, and started to close the door, but as she did she told me
that her father was not there but could probably be found at Tony's
Pizza on Misterabbey Boulevard.

Once again I was extremely
grateful for my car's navigation system. I would never have found
the place otherwise. Despite the grandiose inclusion of the word
'boulevard' in its name, Misterabbey was barely an alley crammed
between two gas stations and backed up onto a freeway underpass.
When I got out of the car, I was wishing the vehicle had also come
equipped with a bodyguard. It was not a good feeling I had, looking
around at the several young men wearing identical blue wool caps
under their fleece hoods sitting on trash cans by the side of the
road doing nothing but looking right at me. Two of them silently
turned to each other and began a game of rock-paper-scissors, on
which my life perhaps depended. I tried not to think about it, and
instead headed straight for the screen door banging open in no
breeze, and walked into the so-called
restaurant.

Tony's was basically a greasy
aluminum counter with a fat guy standing behind it holding a
butcher knife, and two guys occupying the two bar stools in front
of it. They swiveled around at my entrance and I was momentarily
relieved to see that one of them was indeed Enrique Cardoval. He
looked just as I had seen him earlier, only now I took in more of
him. He had to be at least forty, but his face looked more like
fourteen, except for a deep scar above his left eye. He still had a
thick head of black hair, no gray in it at all, and was as skinny
and short as a normal, healthy grown man could be. His companion
was about my size, which is to say average, and about my age too, a
decade and some older than Ricky. His hair was dyed blond, which
was a little strange, and his eyes were bright green, giving him a
sort of otherworldly appearance, but he smiled and
said,

"You sure you're in the right
place, mister?"

"I'd like to speak with Mr.
Cardoval," I said, a little nervously, I admit. "About our friend
Hernan," I added.

"You're that guy." Ricky said,
and snapped his fingers. "This is that guy," he repeated, turning
to his associate, "the one I was telling you about, from this
morning. He showed up with Nando, then the cops hauled his ass
off."

He turned back to me and sort
of sniffed. I mean he wrinkled his nose and made a little snorting
sound. I suppose it was some form of communication, but I did not
comprehend the gesture.

"Can you tell me where he is?
I asked. "Where he is right now? I'd very much like to see
him."

"Oh, he's safe," Ricky
laughed. "Perfectly secure, I'd say."

"You mean he's in police
custody," I guessed. The two men broke into a duet and sang a verse
or two about being back where one belonged, or something like
that.

"There's been a mistake," I
said. "We just arrived here last night, from Wetford. Hernan's
family moved away from here when he was twelve and he's never been
back here since until now. You know that, right? Weren't you a
friend of his when you were children?"

"Sure enough," Ricky said to
me, and then to his friend he added, "must be some kind of nut
job." Turning back to face me he said,

"I don't know what your game
is, pal, seeing as you say you're a friend of Nando and all that
stuff about Wetford. Wetford? So maybe you're having a bad day or a
bad life or something, so I'll tell you right out, Nando ain't
never moved away from here. He ain't never been to no Wetford,
neither. Who'd want to go there, anyway? That place is a dump, not
to mention haunted."

"His father," I replied,
ignoring the slander on my home town,"moved the family for work
reasons when Hernan was twelve. Then his parents split up and his
mom moved back here, had another kid, a brother Hernan never
met."

"A brother? That's a joke,"
Enrique laughed his bitter laugh once more. "You go tell her that,
I'd want to be there for that one. She's right over, right across,
right, oh I forget. Wilson? Where she at these
days?"

"Mistercorn," his companion
replied. "Seven hundreds, I think, that's where that old bat moved
off to."

"Right," Ricky agreed.
"Mistercorn. You go around there, ask for Dotty Wooten, it ain't
her name but it's what they call because it's what she is, kind of
dotty. See if she ever had another boy kid. Yeah, you got the
splitting up part right. Old man went away, that too, but Nando?
Naw, he never left, practically grew up in my own house, my mom
being more mom to him than his own mom ever was. Ain't it so,
Wilson?"

"It is so," Wilson complied.
It was only then that I noticed they were each holding a paper
dixie cup containing some sort of yellow liquid. Ricky noticed me
staring at it because he turned all the way around and told the fat
man behind the counter to be polite and offer his new customer a
lemonade, first new customer you've had in years, Ricky put it. I
already realized I was in a kind of club house, probably a gang
site. I was on the verge of giving up and heading back to the
police station when a cup of the yellow stuff was passed over to
me, and I felt it would be rude, and possibly dangerous, to refuse
it. I studied the liquid for a moment, and then took a sip. It
tasted like good old fashioned lemonade, nothing
more.

"I've known Hernan a long
time," I said, "I met him through his wife, Magdalena. He works for
me now."

"Magdalena?" Ricky shook his
head. "Molly went and got some fancy name I never heard about? She
never were no Magdalena."

"Molly," I sighed. "Next
you'll tell me there's a Candy, too."

Ricky jumped off his stool and
stepped right up to me. I would have been more intimidated if he'd
come up to higher than my collarbone, but he looked pretty
angry.

"I don't know what you're up
to buddy," he said, "We don't know you, and we know you don't know
Nando. If I were you, I'd back up real slow and get the hell out of
here right now."

I put my hands up, being
careful not to spill my cup, and did as he advised. Wilson was also
standing now and the fat guy behind the counter was leaning on it
and sneering at me as I departed. I was quite relieved to find my
path to the car unhindered, and the car itself untouched. I did get
the hell out of there, and went straight back to the hotel to try
and breathe again.

Chapter Thirteen

Somehow I wasn't surprised to
discover, on returning to the hotel, that they'd switched my room
from a double to a single and from the fourth floor to the third.
Perhaps the police had already informed them of Hernan's situation.
I didn't know, and it had been such a long and trying day that I
didn't even try to find out. I felt as if I wasn't merely in a
different city, or even a different country, but a new universe
altogether, one whose rules of operation I wasn't familiar with.
People looked the same and spoke the same, but beneath the skin
they might have been giant bug-eyed reptiles for all I could tell.
From my new vantage point on the third floor, I ordered a sandwich
and chips from room service and scanned the local television
stations for any evidence of inter-galactic mayhem, but all I found
was traffic reports and intermittent listings of recent business
re-locations. These people were keen on keeping up to date on where
everyone else had got to. They had a mania for constant change, it
seemed.

I spent a sleepless night in three
fourteen. The events of the day were confusing enough, but when
fatigue and worry were added to the package, I was unable to keep
anything straight in my mind. I knew my Hernan Kaitel, or at least
I thought I did, and I knew he was no wanted fugitive who'd spend
the last months on the run from the law, perhaps hiding underground
in that inexplicable bunker, or hanging around with those awful
greasy spoon gangsters. He had been, and I had to keep reminding
myself of this definite fact, living in my own house and working
for my own paper, under my very eyes practically the entire year to
date. So who were all these people claiming otherwise, and why was
Hernan remembering things that never happened, and what did it all
add up to? Had we imperceptibly crossed paths with some sort of a
mirror dimension? Were we now truly walking on the road not taken?
That seemed as reasonable a notion as any.

I'm sure I came across as a babbling
idiot the next morning when I broached some of these notions with
Hernan's attorney, to whom I was directed by the sergeant on duty
at the station, after he refused to let me visit with my
incarcerated friend. The lawyer's name was Robin Pence, and she was
apparently a highly respected one, judging from the shiny condition
of the walnut paneling in her downtown high-rise office, and the
golden nameplate on its door. She was relatively easy to track
down, too, actually located at the very first address I was given.
She was a very imposing presence, at least six feet tall. She was
very dark with a mass of curly black hair which made her entire
height approach the rim of the standard-size basketball hoop
adorning one of the walls. She also had a very deep and calm voice,
and it was easy to imagine her having a side-job narrating nature
documentaries. She sat behind a wide obsidian desk in a red leather
chair and listened to my chronological rendition of the story, just
as you yourself have heard up until this point. When I finally
paused for breath, she whistled, smiled and said,

"I've been Nando's lawyer for a long
time now and this is by far the best he's come up with
yet."

"The best what?" I
asked.

"Alibi," she said. "He's always good
for a new one. Every time he gets caught, which is something that
occurs on a quite regular basis, by the way, although this time he
did manage to elude the authorities for several months. I have to
admit I had placed a small wager on the tall tale he'd drag in this
time. I see I was wrong, very wrong. I had something more along the
lines of 'my ex-wife's third cousin stole my identity', or the
classic 'you know what bacon does to my system', or even 'the dog
ate the diamonds', something uniquely Nando like
that."

"I don't know anything about
diamonds," I said, discouraged.

"They'd already been sold," she
said. "Weeks and weeks ago. The jewels went through so many hands
along the way that the police can't trace it all the way back, but
they're pretty sure they've got some telling links. Not enough for
a conviction perhaps, but enough for a case. Nando will be going to
trial this time. Ah," she leaned back in her chair and pretended to
exhale from an imaginary cigar, 'The Case of The Christmas Heist'.
It's going to be fun, and I'm going to enjoy it."

"The Christmas Heist?" I
asked.

"Surely you heard about it," she
said. "Even in Wetford they must have some idea of what goes on in
the world. It was the most spectacular burglary in years. The
Hanover diamonds, on loan from the Hapsburg collection, swiped from
the Ruggeinheil Museum in broad daylight during operating hours,
heck, during a public tour no less, in the presence of hundreds,
and on Christmas day itself!"

"Well, it couldn't have been
Hernan," I said, "that same day he was busy losing his life savings
at the Pindar Casino in Pink City."

"What's that?" Robin Pence broke out
of her reverie. She must have been imagining how even more famous
she would be after her day in court on this case.

"And his car," I added. "Hernan lost
everything last Christmas day."

"At the Pindar Casino, you say? In
Pink City? I didn't know they had Indian casinos there, and I never
heard of that particular tribe."

"These Indians are from India. Pink
City's a little unusual, you know."

"Pindar Casino. Interesting." Robin
Pence was nothing if not connected. In minutes she'd been on the
phone with someone very important in Pink City, who'd connected her
with someone very important at the Pindar Casino, who ran an
immediate scan and came up with not only printed but video evidence
as well, evidence which would be perfectly admissible in court,
according to Robin Pence, after she hung up the
phone.

"Very," she abbreviated, once again
holding up the invisible cigar to her lips.

"Very very, indeed," she
contemplated.

"I must say, Mister - I'm sorry,
I've forgotten your name."

"It doesn't matter what my name is,"
I replied. "All I care about is getting Hernan out of that jail and
back home with me."

Chapter Fourteen

Robin Pence told me to take a long
walk, and by the time I was finished with that, she would have
Hernan out of the pen on bail and back home safe and sound. It
didn't even take that long. I had only made it halfway across the
park, along a lovely meandering stream bordered on either side by
towering weeping willows, when I received a call from her secretary
informing me that Pence had done exactly as she'd promised. Nando,
as they persisted in calling him, was on his way home at that very
moment, the secretary asserted. I almost let her hang up before I
realized I had no idea which "home" they were talking about. Was it
the half-demolished structure on Misteranibal Street, if that had
indeed been the home of this Nando character, or did they mean they
were driving him back to my own house in Wetford?

"Let me see," she murmured, and took
some time to research the matter. When she finally returned to the
phone she gave me two possible addresses, neither of which
corresponded to my earlier anticipations.

"He'll be either at 1717
Mistergoodley Terrace, or 983 Misterhatton Street," she announced,
and promptly hung up. Once again, my car's navigation system
attempted to come to the rescue. It decided to steer me toward
Misterhatton Street first, since it was closer, and from there I
could take the bypass of Misterclemens Avenue to Misterfittle
Drive, which led directly to Mistergoodley Terrace. Naturally, the
people who answered the door at the Misterhatton Street address had
never heard of Nando or Hernan or even Molly
whatever-her-last-name-might-have-been. They couldn't place my
detailed description of my friend, nor did they have any
recollection whatever of whomever might have been the previous
tenants. Of course, they informed me, the building was brand new
and they didn't even know what the previous residence had looked
like, except that it was not in the current style, that much was
certain. The entire block had been re-beautified in the past two
years! I didn't give two hoots about the current style at this
point, but climbed back into my car and let the navigational
personage tell me where to go.

I was familiar enough with the town
of Misterlittleton by then, so I was not surprised at the constant
construction on every block, the unexpected detours which forced
the navigational system to recalculate its bearings every so often,
giving up on the whole bypass idea and sending me in a broad loop
around the sports facility and then the convention center, and one
or two Westburg trademarked shopping malls, before guiding me to a
parking spot right in front of a pleasant three-story red
adobe-with-black-glass apartment building at 1719 Mistergoodley
Terrace. This turned out to be off by a mere two numbers, but there
you have it. There was no such place as 1717, only 1715 and 1719,
and naturally, as you already expected, there was no trace of my
friend at either locale.

My patience level had dropped to
around a 6 on a scale of 4 to 13. I called Robin Pence's office but
could only leave fruitless messages on their machine. Apparently my
priority level on their scale was even lower. I considered
returning once again to the police station, but I didn't really
think I'd have much better luck getting the right address out of
them, even though they were the only people so far who'd provided
anybody's correct location. I certainly did not want to return to
Tony's Pizza. I was running out of ideas. I went back to my hotel
room and used their stationery and pen to write down everyone I
knew or had heard about in that increasingly annoying city, and my
last resort came down to a choice between trying to track down this
Molly person, about whose whereabouts I had no clue, or my friend's
alter ego's alleged mother, whose address had been provided to me
by those lemonade sipping hoodlums.

According to my notes, her name was
Dotty Wooten, and she resided in the 700 block of Mistercorn. I
took a deep breath and plunged back into my car, certain of getting
lost at least a few more times that day, and less and less
convinced I would ever see my friend again.

Chapter Fifteen

I found the block readily
enough, and was surprised to find one entire side of it stood
without a single demolition in its midst. It consisted of closely
connected row houses of the traditional type, complete with
concrete steps and semi-enclosed porches of the kind you would have
found a century earlier in some north-eastern city slum. These
homes, though, appeared to be in good repair and freshly painted,
alternately white and red. Since I did not have an exact address, I
started with the first door on the even numbered side of the
street, and patiently waited after ringing the doorbell. An old
woman in a walker shuffled over to open it, making me feel
immediately guilty for causing her such trouble. She was ancient,
indeed, bent over and hunched and impossibly hard of hearing. I
repeated my query three or four times before apologizing and giving
up. She continued to stare at me as I backed down the steps and up
to the neighbor's door. There a middle-aged housewife opened up
right away, and noticing the old woman still perched in her own
doorway, yelled at her to go back inside, that everything was all
right, and she would be over just as soon as she could. The old
woman seemed to grasp this scenario and disappeared from
view.

"She's a bit, you know," the
housewife stated and I nodded.

"I'm looking for someone named
Dotty Wooten," I explained, "and all I know is I was told she lives
on this block."

"Sorry," she said. "I don't
know her, but you should check with 714, Alberta Menta's place.
She'll know if anyone does. She knows
everybody."

I thanked her and followed her
advice. I was lucky to find Alberta Menta still at home, for she
was just about to leave to post a pile of relocation notices. She
had a handful of the placards in her hand as she headed out the
door.

"So that's where they come
from!" I exclaimed. I had assumed they were distributed by an
official government agency, which would explain why they were on
all the fences of all the empty lots, and all looked exactly the
same.

"I take it upon myself,"
Alberta explained, after she had welcomed me into her home and was
preparing a pot of tea. "So much disturbance, so much how do you
call it mayhem," she added. "Nobody knows where anyone has got to.
And does the city care? Oh no, they - what would you say - no not
at all. They're so busy uprooting neighborhoods and disturbing the
general tranquility. People are inconvenient, that's what they'd
say if pressed, and have said so when been
so."

I shook my head in a vague
attempt to follow her prattle. Alberta was a very small, very thin
woman of indeterminate age, possibly thirty, possibly fifty. Her
light brown skin was smooth and wrinkle-free and her small brown
eyes darted every which way while she spoke, as if expecting to see
in every corner some sort of mischief that must be stamped out at
once. We sat in the sitting room just inside the front door, a tiny
carpeted space containing too many little tables and chairs, and
several non-functional lamps dangling from the ceiling. Behind it I
could see her bustling in a teensy kitchen and was pretty sure I
could glimpse a small bedroom off to one side. The house seemed to
be divided into several little apartments, with narrow hallways and
staircases keeping them apart.

"How do you keep track?" I
shouted after her, but she was already returning with a tin tray
holding the pot and two dainty cups on saucers. Motioning for me to
move to a different chair, she settled the tray down onto one of
the tables and poured.

"Planning commission," she
told me. "My son works there. Oh it bothers him, it certainly does,
to be known as the child of that interfering nosy woman who is
always coming in demanding to know who's moving where and when and
- how do you call it why? What's wrong with the old buildings,
anyway, I'd like to know, and I do ask, oh yes I do. In detail,
mind you. In very great detail. A sweet little Tudor bungalow built
just eleven years ago according to all the codes and in a very nice
street so why does this one have to go, and what for? To make room
for a Wright house which looks, if you'll pardon the pun,
absolutely wrong, quite wrong, instead. And the Peabody's who had
lived on Mistercatton Street since their babies were born now have
to go all the way across town to Misterwishington where they don't
know anyone and the schools, so sad to say, are painted green
instead of that lovely navy blue they've been accustomed to. Now
why is that, I demand to know, but they put me off with the lists,
which they know, oh they know how much I can't resist them, every
time. I want to know their reasoning, but the perpetual
re-beautification so they tell me has reasons beyond mortal
explanation, something to do with cosmic tides and the wisdom of
the crowds. Don't look too deep, they tell me, you're bound to miss
what's on the surface - how should we say - that's right in front
of you. Be happy we let you have the lists. We don't have to give
you the lists, you know, even though your son, but even so, don't
ask too many questions if you want what we know you really
want."

I managed to interrupt her at
this point with my direct question about Dotty Wooten. The name
seemed to be new to her for a moment, as she furrowed her brow and
concentrated.

"No, no," she muttered,
"there's no one with that name, not in Misterlittleton,
surely."

"She's the mother of Hernan
Kaitel," I offered, at which Alberta Menta perked
up.

"Oh, you mean Sarah Kaitel,"
she said, "Of course. Wherever did you come up with a name like
Dotty Wooten? You could look for years for a person who doesn't
exist. Now Sarah Kaitel, yes, she used to live her, certainly, two
doors down at 718B. Not any longer, of course. She's gone. Funny
you should ask, though," she said, shuffling through the placards
she had set aside when we came in.

"Here it is," she announced as
she pulled one out of the pile. "Effective next Thursday, that's in
two days from now, Mrs. Sarah Kaitel and family can be found at
55112 Misterhammerrow Lane."

"And family?" I
asked.

"Certainly," she replied.
"Sarah and her two daughters, Karah and
Tarah."

"You said effective on
Thursday," I said. "Does that mean they are still at their current
address?"

"Oh no," she said
disapprovingly. "Certainly not. They'll be incommunicado until
then. The city puts them up once they've gone on notice, and that
is always classified information. For personal
reasons."

I had no idea what she was
talking about, but I'd had enough of it, whatever it was. I stood
up to leave, thanking her and giving the excuse of having kept her
from her important tasks for far too long already, which she agreed
I had done. I was just heading out the door when a sudden
inspiration occurred to me.

"You wouldn't happen to know,"
I said, "where I might be able to find her son, Mister Hernan
Kaitel?"

"Why of course," she clucked.
"He's in his luxurious new penthouse at 11 Misteravid Street.
Everybody knows that," she couldn't help
adding.

Chapter Sixteen

11 Misteravid Street was right
around the corner from my hotel. From the looks of it, I'd assumed
it was an office building, and indeed the signage out front, which
advertised a financial investment firm, gave no indication that
anyone possibly lived there. The lobby, with its black granite
floor and brass office directory board, seemed likewise
un-residential. Only by close scrutiny could you devise that some
of the offices were actually apartments, and even then you couldn't
be completely sure, as some of the residents listed themselves as
corporations, such as Mrs. Hendly Ramos, Ltd. in 707. The penthouse
suite did not even make an appearance and Hernan Kaitel was not
mentioned there. I decided to proceed as if this weren't the case,
and confidently stepped into the elevator and pushed the top
button.

When I emerged, I found myself
directly in front of the only door there. The wallpaper and
carpeting were a uniform and somewhat hallucinogenic gold leaf
pattern which made me feel a little dizzy as I knocked and waited
patiently. I was quite convinced that whoever answered would not
only not be my old friend, but would also have no idea who he was,
or who I was, or anything about anything at all for that matter. I
was only partially mistaken, for the man who did eventually come
and greet me was the legendary Nando Kaitel himself. He looked very
much like a version of my Hernan, only this rendition was wearing a
very expensive, black silk suit with black dress shoes to match, a
purple tie with a gold tie clip and golden cufflinks as well. He
was sporting an incipient mustache and his hair was combed back and
slickened with some kind of smelly substance. He certainly didn't
smell like my Hernan! His overall appearance was very like a cheesy
gangster from a classic old-time black and white movie. I nearly
burst out laughing but managed to hold it back. His expression was
one of suspicion and keen alertness, his voice full of impatience
when he asked,

"Is there something I can do
for you?"

"It's me, Hernan. I've finally
found you."

He seemed puzzled for a few
moments, then he kind of grimaced, or sneered, and
said,

"Oh, it's you, is it? I
expected you'd show up sooner or later. You're the alibi guy,
right?"

"Excuse
me?"

"The guy who told my lawyer
the story about the casino. Nice trick, that, I suppose you want
something for it. Go ahead, name it."

"I don't understand," I said,
"I just want to talk to you."

"Okay," he sighed, "if that's
what you want, you might as well come in. Now's as good a time as
any."

He pushed the door open wider
and stepped aside while motioning for me to enter, which I did. The
apartment was everything you would expect a penthouse suite to be,
from the grand view of the entire city through wide plate windows
on three sides, to the sunken living room area complete with black
leather sofa and chairs and heavy glass coffee table, a
professional-looking kitchen off to the side and no doubt an
enormous master bedroom or two further down the plush-carpeted
hallway. He steered me to the seating area and asked me what I'd
like to drink. I replied that water would be just fine, and he soon
returned with a glass of water for me and what looked like scotch
whiskey for him, another sign that this was not my Hernan, a
teetotaler since his late teen years, when an episode involving his
father convinced him that no good could ever come of
alcohol.

"Now then," he said when we
were both settled and staring at each other as if for the first
time ever. I was clearly a stranger to this man, and I was
beginning to believe that I was the victim of a cruel and elaborate
hoax for some unknown reason. Perhaps it had to do with thievery.
Perhaps I was being set up by a criminal gang, but why? I had no
idea.

"I don't know who you are," he
said. "I don't even know your name. My lawyer forgot to tell
me."

I told him, but it made no
impression. He merely shrugged and said,

"You were also at the jail,
I'm told? And at Tony's too! Ricky says you made quite an
unexpected appearance there, of all places. Did you enjoy the
lemonade?" He laughed.

"I've been trying to find you
for two days," I said, "or is it three? I've lost track of the
time! We came here on Sunday, that's all I know for
sure."

"We?" He asked, looking around
the room. "Are there more of you?"

"You and I," I told him. "We
drove here from Wetford, together, from my house, where we live,
remember?"

"You're in my home right now,"
he said. "I've been living here since, well, since my last
re-location. It's a nice place, don't you
think?"

"It's very nice," I nodded,
although to tell the truth I never liked apartments like that one.
Rich people have never been my style, nor have any of their
accessories. At a certain point, too much of anything leads to
bloat and innervation. I prefer invention, and therefore the bare
necessities.

"I'm told you say you know all
about me," he said. "So, please, tell me more about
myself."

Chapter Seventeen

"Well," I said, "when you were
twelve your family moved to Wetford. Later they split up and your
mom moved back here."

"They divorced, yes," he
replied, "but only my dad moved to Wetford. I stayed here with my
mom."

"She later remarried and had
another son."

"She did remarry, but she had
two girls, my little sisters, Karah and Tarah. Haven't you met them
yet?"

"No," I said, and pushed on.
It was now or never. I was determined to get to the bottom of this
mystery. I tried to think of everything I had ever known about my
friend, things that maybe no one else would know, or at least that
only a good friend would.

"You often told me that when
you were fourteen, you had to read Walden, by Thoreau in English
class at school and it made such an impression on you that you went
to live in the woods by yourself for three weeks that summer. When
you came home your dad hadn't even noticed you'd been
gone."

"That sounds like the old
bastard, for sure." He was silent for a few moments and then he
said,

"I remember we had to read
that book. Man, what a bore. It just put me to sleep is how I
recall it."

"Also around that time," I
went on, "you were really into reading sea-faring adventure novels.
You loved them so much you got a job at a deli after school and
saved up your money and bought a little sailboat and taught
yourself to sail out on the river."

"Yeah, that's pretty much the
way it was." He looked more closely at me, as if he were only now
aware that something strange was going on. Maybe he thought I was
playing him? Maybe he thought I was the one who was setting him up?
Perhaps he assumed I was a cop, or a private detective, and this
was all a trick, but now I had his
attention.

"The job I got was at Tony's
Pizza - you know the place – but it used to be over on
Mistermiddleton when it was just called Middleton, back in those
days, before the storm. Tony's used to be a decent place. I bought
me a Sailfish, used to take it out on the water from the Creighton
Pier. Hell, I still love those books. The Sea-Wolf is my all time
favorite."

"You told me that when you
were around sixteen you saw a Spanish movie that was dubbed into
Italian. That interested you so much you went and found the
original version, and then you taught yourself Italian. It's what
got you started off in translation

"I remember that movie," he
laughed, "I think it was called Bella di Giorno. Made me horny as
hell. Come to think of it, I've had a thing about blondes ever
since. What's all this about? How do you know these things, and why
do you have most of them wrong?"

"They're not wrong," I said.
"Everything I'm telling you is true, it's what you've told me, or
your wife has told me. Your ex-wife, Magdalena. We met through
her."

"I don't know any Magdalena,"
he scoffed, and leaned back in his chair, taking another sip from
his glass.

"You met her in a math class.
I don't really know why you were taking a math class, or even why
she was. Maybe it was because you'd met other girls that way, yes,
and she'd met other guys the same way too. It was something you had
in common, picking up people in math classes! It struck you both as
so stupid and yet so odd that you hit it off right
away."

"Did she have curly read
hair?" He asked, sitting straight up.

"Yes, she did. She still
does," I said, "only now there's a little gray in it when she
doesn't color it up."

"I preferred the blonde," he
said. "In math class. It was Statistics and Probability at City
College. I always liked to learn about odds, risk analysis, stuff
like that. I'm pretty good at that kind of thing, you
know."

"If you say so," I murmured.
My Hernan had thought himself something of a wizard in those
subjects as well. I always thought it was more about luck than
anything else. Bad luck, in the case of my friend. Maybe the
opposite for this guy.

"I remember the redhead,
though. I did think about asking her out, but the blonde. The
blonde turned out to be an idiot, and by the time I figured that
out the class was over and it was too late for the other
one."

"Yes, Probability," I said.
"That was it. What are the odds?" I said to myself, and wanted to
laugh, but I couldn't. I had to go on.

Chapter Eighteen

"When you and I met for the first
time," I said, "you asked me something very interesting. You asked
me, how do people know when they understand each
other?"

"I think they can tell more easily
when they don't." Nando answered.

"That's exactly what you told me
then," I said. "Word for word."

"Seems like an obvious answer," he
shrugged. "Listen, you and I, no matter what you say, you and I
have never met before. Never. I don't know you and I never knew
you. I don't know what you're after or what you want. Maybe you are
working for the system somehow? Or some newspaper,
perhaps?"

"I do run a newspaper," I told him,
"but that has nothing to do with this. In fact, you work for my
paper. I am your employer, and your friend. That's my 'angle', as
you put it."

"Now you're making even less sense,"
he shook his head. "But I'm curious, I have to admit. Exactly what
does this me do for your newspaper? Is he your paper boy? Does he
ride around on a bicycle making deliveries?" He chuckled at his
attempt at humor. I did not.

"You are a writer," I told him, "and
a translator. You speak many languages." Here I paused, for it
didn't seem like the time to bring up the imaginary ones. He might
already suspect me of being a possible lunatic, and that tidbit
certainly wouldn't help matters much.

"I do speak English," he said, "and
some Spanish, here and there. I should speak more, I know,
considering my heritage and all, but growing up around here, you
tend to lose it, you use it mostly for swearing or talking about
food. But you said I was a writer. What do I
write?"

"All sorts of stuff," I said, again
hedging my answer. I did not need to go into the fictitious nature
of our "news" stories, nor provide too much detail. "You're a
journalist. You write about things that happen."

"But you are telling me about things
that do not happen, things that never happened and can never
happen. A person can only be one person. He can only live one life,
but you are telling my that my life is not the one I remember, and
that I am not the person I know myself to be. You have made up
another version of myself, for some reason I cannot figure out. All
I know is that this alibi you came up with somehow had some reality
to it. There are records of my being at this place, this casino,
and my fingerprints are there, and videos and photographs of me,
and my signature, yes, I have seen the photocopies and it is my
own, or at least very like it. Perhaps this is all some elaborate
trick. I don't know. A man in my position cannot be too careful,
especially with these recent charges, which I'm sure you understand
are potentially quite serious. And so, you see, you are putting me
in an awkward position. You say you are my friend and yet, I feel I
must ask you to leave."

Saying this, he stood up and made it
quite plain by his gestures and expressions that he expected me to
do the same. I could not see an alternative. I could offer more
proofs, more stories, more anecdotes of the real Hernan, but these
could have no other effect than the ones I'd already produced. And
deep inside I already knew it was a hopeless situation. This man
was not Hernan Kaitel. I did not know who he was, and I was feeling
the very same instinct that he was, that this whole thing was a
curious trick set in motion by someone for some mysterious reason.
It was with a sense of great sadness that I finally rose to my
feet, and walked slowly to the door. There was one thing missing, I
felt, one crucial piece of information, and I couldn't come up with
what it might be. I hesitated, and dawdled, and dragged and I could
feel him becoming more and more impatient as we made our way toward
his door. It wasn't until I was barely out that I thought of it,
and turned around just in time to catch him just before he locked
me out.

"What is all this about lemons?" I
blurted out, and he stopped with the door half-shut, and
smiled.

"My monicker, you
mean?"

"They said something about lemons at
that hole in the ground on Misteranibal Street. And then at Tony's
Pizza, like it's some sort of totem."

"I am sometimes known as The Lemon
Thief," he said. "It is not a long story, but not a very
interesting one either, though perhaps you will write about it some
day in your newspaper. I stole a lemon from a vegetable cart when I
was twelve years old." Here he paused and sighed with the
memory.

"My mother made me take it back and
apologize," he continued. "It was embarrassing. My friend Ricky was
there with me when it happened. He saw the whole thing, beginning
to end. He never lets me forget it. I had to promise my mother I'd
be a good boy and never do anything like that again. Every time he
sees me, Ricky still asks me if I've been a good boy. That's it.
That's all there is to it."

So saying, he finished closing the
door, and left me standing alone in the hallway. I thought he was
right. It was not an interesting story, but I couldn't help but
wonder if my own Hernan had done the same thing at the same age,
and what had happened if he had.

Chapter Nineteen

I did not want to spend
another minute in Misterlittleton. I'd had more than enough of the
runarounds and the complications and the perpetual
re-beautifications and the re-locations and the cops and the
lawyers and the lemonade gang. I'd lost track of my senses and lost
track of my life those few days in that crazy town and its people
who never seemed to have recovered from the emotional damage done
by that super-mega-storm way back when. I went straight back to my
hotel and checked out as quickly as I could, then I climbed into my
car and ordered the navigational system to figure out how to get me
home to sensible rational Wetford in the most direct route
possible.

After a few canceled detours
and emergency re-routings, my car and I finally made it to a
freeway which promised to deliver me home in approximately six
hours of driving. I did not stop along the way, not once, and did
not even bother to look around at the scenery. All I wanted was to
get back home, park the damn car and leave it in the driveway for
the rest of eternity. I kept my eyes on the road and my hands on
the wheel, even though I had to fight back stupid tears most of the
way there, tears of frustration and confusion more than anything
else. I am a person who likes things to make sense. I do not enjoy
mysteries. I like to make fun of things and laugh. I want
everything to be proper and normal and move along nicely from point
A to point B with no imaginary points in between. I am not fond of
fractions. I do not like partial explanations. I don't mind if
someone throws me an occasional curve ball as long I can watch it
sail comfortably into a catcher's mitt. I demand happy endings and
I was not getting one, not this time.

I was tired and tense when I
finally arrived home, and in a pretty foul mood. I slammed the car
door even though the car had only been good to me and didn't
deserve such treatment. I stomped up the pavement to the front
stairs though the concrete certainly did nothing to merit such
stamping. I started up the stairs and then I stopped. Someone was
there, on the front porch, standing by the door. I could not tell
who it was at first glance in the early dusk. I was only annoyed
there was anyone at all, since my plan was to yank open that door,
slam it shut behind me, march right upstairs to my bedroom and
throw myself onto my bed, possibly slugging the pillow a time or
two before collapsing into a perfectly dreamless
sleep.

I must have said something, or
made a noise, because the person turned around, and the first thing
I noticed was that he was holding something in his hand, something
flat and white, and then I looked up and saw his face, his pale and
startled and very confused face.

"I'm very sorry," he said. "I
don't know what I'm doing here. It's just that this address is
written down, here, on the back of this
postcard."

I took the card from him and
briefly glanced at it. Yes, it had my address on the back. Turning
it over, I saw on the front a picture of an old house with only a
number on it - 477 - and nothing else to indicate where it might
be. I had to laugh, which confused my guest even
more.

"It's okay," I said. "Don't
you worry about anything. It's all going to make sense in a day or
two, I promise."

"I really don't know," he
began to say, but I reached out and gave him a pat on the
back.

"Come inside, Hernan," I said,
"and I'll make you a nice cup of peppermint
tea."

THE END

Thanks for reading! Reviews and
comments of all kinds are always welcome and appreciated. For more
Pigeon Weather Productions, please visit http://pigeonweather.wordpress.com
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	Fixture
(1984)
When a city commissioned a famous artist to create a masterpiece
for their new refurbished downtown, they only forgot one thing: to
tell him when to stop. Now his greatest work is threatening to take
over everywhere. It's a race against time and space and dimensions
nobody even knew were there!



	


Fissure
Monroe (1984)
Dawn Debris is hired to find a possibly-radiation-poisoned leg
bone of a high society fashionette who only wants to fit in with
the new craze of skeletal transplants that’s sweeping the nation. A
store detective, a street musician, a tedious pundit and a
suspicious beautician are all involved as market forces compete in
a world where beauty is no longer skin deep.



	


The
Part Time People (1984)
DeBarrie's Stationery Store needed help again. Somehow, the
part-time people never worked out. It was a problem. One after
another, the part-time people came and went, and sometimes, nobody
ever found out what happened to them. The newest one seemed even
more hopeless than usual. His job application announced "there's a
man who follows me around and ruins everything I try to do".



	


Rampant
Pheromonix (1986)
When an overpopulated city is exposed to an epidemic of
clairvoyance, all hell breaks loose. It’s up to the ‘wuns above’
and Science to fend off the forces of both good and evil in a race
against certain annihilation.



	


Cashier
World (1986)
A collection of stories, including the Legend of the Wandering
Cashier, the roadside diner Angel of Death, and the classic tale of
the Bathroom on the Bus



	


Dawn
Debris (1996)
When his new idea is stolen, Morris Bevelhead turns to the best
finder of lost things in the business - Dawn Debris, Private Eye.
After a hearty breakfast, Dawn finds herself trapped in a sinister
conspiracy to save the world through orange juice. Can she pull the
plug before it's too late, or will the mega company FedCorTron rule
the day? It's a comic book without illustrations, extracted from
the one and only 'Cashier World' collection.



	


Somebody
Somewhere (1998)
Some psycho kidnaps his would-be girlfiend, gets chased by the
cops halfway across the state, runs out of gas right outside your
house, where you and your spouse are enjoying a quiet evening at
home, and now you’re held hostage at gunpoint and surrounded by
police. It could happen.



	


Time
Zone (1999)
This is not your father’s time travel. There’s no machine, no
dial. There’s no telling where or when you’ll go. The only thing
that can change is you. It will make you what it needs to make you.
And if you come back, it won’t be the same you. You’re messing with
the nature of things, and the nature of things does not like to be
messed with.



	


Macedonia
(2006)
A gang of street kids, an anonymous radio announcer, a detective
from the future, a presidential assassination attempt and a
frequently mistaken narrator all play a part in this jumble of
introductions to an open-source novel inspired by the works of
Macedonio Fernandez.

cover painting by Delma Soult



	


Golden
(2007)
A man saved by accident from global human extinction is able to
travel back in time within the previous century – the only problem
is, he’s a black man in 20th century America. A screenplay based on
characters from the novel Time Zone



	


Secret
Sidewalk (2007)
Beauregaard Sweet became invisible, but his troubles began when
he suddenly reappeared. Now everybody wants something from him.
Manny the mechanic wants his wife. Sharad LeMaster wants his
secret. Emma Biggs wants another shot at the TV news, the Four
Tribes want to send him back to wherever it was he’d gone, and all
he wants to do is eat donuts and watch reality TV.



	


Hidden
Highway (2007)
Sharad LeMaster ran away from his own cult, and tried to hide
from his followers by taking a desk job in a motel in the middle of
nowhere, but when a certain lazy ghost from his past reappears,
Sharad is lured into a haunted house and becomes the proud
possession of the witch Eugenia, and gets caught between rival
black-market magic-potion dealers in their fight over a girl.



	


Squatter With
a Lexus (2007)
Pearson Holmes disappeared a long time ago, leaving behind a
potentially valuable safety deposit box. Freddy the Freegan is the
first to stumble across the mystery, but soon a whole cast of
characters are out to find the key and claim the treasure before
time runs out and the contents are forfeit to the state. Who will
solve the riddle of the Squatter with a Lexus?



	


Missy
Tonight (2008)
These days it seems like everyone is cashing in on the New
Atheism craze, except for lifelong unbeliever Alan Musted. What’s a
portable toilet dispatcher to do? Crash the party, that’s what!
Join Alan and his friends and enemies in this ground-breaking work
of “atheist pulp fiction”, the spellbinding sequel to 'Orange Car
with Stripes'



	


Orange Car
with Stripes (2008)
It's the ultimate in atheist sci-fi comic pulp fiction! On a
dare, Gian Carlo Spallanzini set out to discover the deepest
darkest secret of a person picked at random. He had no idea what he
was getting into. Even a fat, bearded know-it-all ought to know
better than to leap before you look. Add a crystal ball, a
foul-mouthed parrot, and a cranky atheist talk show host and you'll
never guess the outrageous mystery behind the orange car with
stripes.



	


Snapdragon
Alley (2009)
Book One of the Dragon City Series: Ten year old friends Alex
and Sapphire discover something strange on the city bus map, a
street that existed for only one year. As they set out to solve the
mystery, they encounter the possibility of another world, another
dimension perhaps, lurking in a vacant lot, but they are not the
only ones on the trail. Who will discover the truth, and who will
pay the price? Followed by 'Freak City', 'Dragon Town' and 'Happy
Slumbers'



	


Freak
City (2009)
Book Two of the Dragon City Series: It’s hard to control your
destiny while you’re waiting for the bus. The trouble for Argus
Kirkham began when a stranger pushed his way through a crowd at a
bus stop and pressed a package into his hands. Inside the package
were various random items . As Argus and his friends unraveled the
clues, very strange things began to occur in this story of mystery
and ghosts. Following Snapdragon Alley, and followed by Dragon Town
and Happy Slumbers



	


World
Weary Avengers (2009)
The good folks at World Weary Avengers Incorporated had a simple
idea - changing the world for the better merely by talking loudly
in public. Seemed simple enough, but even with the help of the most
sophisticated hand held device ever invented, some jobs are better
not left to amateurs. You never know what kind of hell could break
loose.



	


Bobby
and the Bedouins (2009)
Mario Flambeau was once a guitar god, a superstar in the
psychedelic heyday. Now he's a burned-out wreck. When a desperate
producer finds him in a church basement in a band with other
derelicts, he has visions of a major comeback payday. Add a drummer
with an anger management problem and a preening drifter diva lead
singer, and you've got all the makings of a true rock and roll
apocalypse



	


Tiddlywink
the Mouse (2010)
A collection of oddly surreal stories for unusual children,
featuring a mouse and his friends - a squirrel, an elephant, a
limpet and a fish - along with an assortment of mischievous clouds
and cowardly mushrooms.



	


Zombie
Nights (2010)
Being a zombie, not so easy. That could have been Dave Connor's
six word memoir. "At first he couldn't remember how he'd ended up
in that shallow grave; he just knew it was hell to claw his way
out, and that the taste of its dirt would remain in his mouth for
the rest of his time on this earth" ... Expect the unexpected in
this existential resurrection thriller.



	


Death
Ray Butterfly (2010)
Inspector Stanley Mole doesn't mind a hard case, but things have
gotten out of hand. There's a killer who escapes to a parallel
universe, a 20,000 year old murder, a witness to her own death, a
toddler assassin, subatomic-particle sniffing butterflies, and
much, much more. This time it's not just his reputation that's on
the line. This time it's more than personal.



	


Unwritten
Rules of Impossible Things (2010)
What if someone - or something - stole one of your days? Just
one, and you didn't know why, or what they had done with your life
in that time? Young Philip Galvez and his friend Marcus Holmes
found out for themselves when they decided to discover why there
was a giant stuffed moose in a house down the road.



	


Ledman
Pickup (2010)
The world's most sophisticated gadget falls into the wrong hands
- its own, and leads its creators on a most unpredictable chase.
One thing leads to another when this newly sentient package gets
lost in transit.



	


Raisinheart
(2010)
Three stories of a lonely youth. Jimmy Kruzel's bad luck is that
his worst enemies are always his best friends, or is it the other
way around, and that sometimes his darkest hours seem to come right
after the dawn. In tales more bitter than sweet, Jimmy finds that
you can attract more flies with honey than you can with vinegar,
but really, who wants to attract flies anyway?



	


Renegade
Robot (2010)
It's the end of the world as we know it, when the dreaded
Singularity finally occurs and happens to be captured, live on
tape, by agents of the Frantic News Network, which freaks out, as
usual, and causes a lot of trouble for the mild-mannered nanobot
exterminator who happens to get caught in the crossfire.



	


All
Geeked Up (2011)
Gadget lovers beware! Those amazing devices in your hands and
pockets today will seem primitive and trivial very soon. That day
is fast approaching. Already the greatest minds of the generation
after the next are hard at work, dreaming up trouble beyond all
imagination. Tomorrow's little black boxes will turn the whole
world upside down.

From their humble beginnings as inventors of a handheld device
with mind control potential, the tech-folk behind World Weary
Avengers, Incorporated moved on to develop such gadgets as the one
capable of recording an individual's very personality and replaying
it back into another. Devices with even more sinister potential are
only the tip of the iceberg. Only a small band of software quality
assurance engineers stands between these audacious software
developers and your very soul. Would you trust such as these with
the future of mankind? I didn't think so.

In 'World Weary Avengers', the beginning of the end, old friends
Tom and Chris decide to change the world by radically simple means.
In 'Ledman Pickup', one of Tom's rare new devices is let loose in
the wild, as the gadget seeks to make its own way in the world, on
its own terms. 'In Constant Contact' continues the saga of
inventions gone wrong, when professional friends lead to nothing
but trouble.



	


Sexy
Teenage Vampires (2011)
You live long enough you see everything. That's what old Bill
told himself. Working down in the underground train station all
those years he figured he'd pretty much seen it all, until they
showed up, first one, and then the other. A love story in black and
red.



	


Attack of the
Sexy Teenage Vampires (2011)
Safety in numbers? Don't kid yourself. There's nothing more
dangerous than a crowd. Even when it's not a mob, it's hiding
certain elements, concealing dangers. Anyone could be an enemy.
Anyone could have their sights on you. Do not relax. Do not feel
safe. You are being watched. You should know it and beware.



	


Rainbow
Country (2011)
A stage play. When Thalia Jennings inherits a mountain resort
from the father she never know, she discovers it to be much less -
and infinitely more - than she ever imagined.



	


Return of the
Sexy Teenage Vampires (2011)
Some bad things happen mostly during rush hour. People are
careless. They're tired and not paying as much attention as they
should. They fail to see things that are right in front of them.
They see other things which aren't even there. They hear the noises
of the crowd but later wonder why their arm is bleeding in this
short story, the sequel to the original 'Sexy Teenage Vampires'



	


Dragon
Town (2011)
Argus Kirkham, age 39, finds himself dragged unwillingly into an
inexplicable situation when an old friend, international
correspondent Sapphire Karadjian, is assigned to cover a strange
mystery, a volcanic sinkhole which has swallowed an entire football
stadium, and from which a weird and nameless young girl has
emerged, hair and clothes on fire, with a message for Argus. Book
Three of the Dragon City Series, Following Snapdragon Alley and
Freak City and followed by Happy Slumbers



	


Phantom of
the Mall (2011)
The settlers were dispatched to a distant world to prepare the
way for the great migration. Everything went according to plan, a
little too smoothly, perhaps. Now there's only one thing missing in
New Town, just a minor detail. Dystopia in G Minor. The Phantom of
the Mall.



	


In
Constant Contact (2011)
The good folks at World Weary Avengers are at it again. Now
they've come up with a device that keeps you in continual contact
with a "professional friend", someone guaranteed to always be
there, whenever you need them, to be whatever you need them to be.
Now it's up to Kandhi Clarke and her team of test engineers to make
sure if does what it's supposed to, and not what it's not, before
this latest tech-astrophe is let loose on the world.



	


Jimmyland
(2011)
A screenplay based on the story 'Phantom of the Mall'. The
settlers were dispatched to a distant planet to build a colony to
house the future of mankind. They had everything they needed,
except a backup plan in case things went horribly wrong, and there
was no way home.



	


Happy
Slumbers (2012)
When Argus Kirkham disappears, his older brother Alex returns to
the city of his youth to join in the search, but finds himself
instead at the edge of a baffling mystery he can neither see nor
begin to understand, in this fourth and final re-mix of the Dragon
City series.



	


Humanoid
Central (2012)
In the future, humans and androids desperately need to find a
way to get along with each other, but they're failing miserably.
Mired in war and environmental catastrophe, a new generation has to
rise to the challenge. A hand-picked group of Future Leaders is
sent to a special academy, a sort of Blade Runner High School. Its
up to these young people learn to overcome their differences, to
see past the great divide of their time, and usher in a new era of
peace and humanoid cooperation. Can't they all just get along? In
this absurdist fable, they're going to need all the luck they can
get.



	


The
Von Barkingham Method of Time Travel (2012)
In the future ... well, you already know this (or will),
assuming you lived (or will live) through the horror, the misery,
the nightmare that was (or is) (or will be) the Von Barkingham
method of time travel. May God have mercy on our souls.



	


The
New Guy In Moon Base Twelve (2012)
They weren't exactly the crew the President had in mind when he
announced his plan to build a permanent base on the moon so the
Chinese wouldn't do it first, but there they were, a boring
collection of peaceful, happy settlers who couldn't even get a
decent reality TV show rating. Life was perfectly dull until the
new guy arrived. Now if they could only find out who he was and
where he'd come from.

The Book's Review Of Itself:

In the hands of a more traditional writer, this could have been
a full-fledged novel replete with well-developed characters
enduring dramatic interpersonal conflicts portending dire
consequences for all mankind. Instead, it's just another silly,
light-hearted satirical sketch of the kind its characters have come
to expect of their author. Of course there are the usual larger
meanings lurking beneath the surface, but you'd have to drill a
little to build something out of them. The book may have one
possible answer to that infamous question, "can't we all just get
along?" Well? What if we could?



	


The
Girl in the Trees (2012)
Twelve year old Miranda Amelia Harden has lived all her life on
her grandfather's ranch in the mountains. All she wants is to stay
there, but the rest of the world can't seem to leave her alone. She
has only two questions. How young is too young to know what you
want? How young is too young to get it?



	


La
Acera Secreta (2013)
Beauregaard Dulce se volvió invisible, pero sus problemas
comenzaron cuando de repente volvió a aparecer. Ahora todo el mundo
quiere algo de él. Manny el mecánico quiere a su mujer. Sharad
LeMaster quiere su secreto. Emma Biggs quiere otra oportunidad en
las noticias de televisión, las Cuatro Tribus desean enviarle de
vuelta a donde quiera que se hubiese ido, y todo lo que él quiere
hacer es comer donuts y ver realities.
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